**RECEIVED**

**Apr 24 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable L. Casey Manning, Circuit Judge  
The Honorable Daniel Coble, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019 CP 40-04452

---

South Carolina Court of Appeals  
Appellate Case No. 2023-001058

---

South Carolina Supreme Court  
Appellate Case No. 2024-000588

---

Anesthesiology Professionals of Columbia, LLC,..... Respondent,

v.

Lifepoint Health d/b/a Providence Health and Providence  
Hospital, LLC,..... Petitioner.

---

**PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
TO THE SOUTH CAROLINA COURT OF APPEALS**

---

## QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the Court of Appeals err in dismissing this appeal as interlocutory where the appeal is from “a judgment or decree” entered pursuant to chapter 48 of Title 15 (the “South Carolina Arbitration Act”) that fully resolved all claims as to all parties in Respondent’s application to vacate the arbitration award in this matter pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-130, as provided by S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-200(6), and where the orders appealed denied confirmation of the arbitration award, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-200(3), and vacated the award without directing a rehearing (S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-200(5)) in the manner prescribed by S.C. Code Ann. 15-48-130(c)?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter comes before the Court on an unusual set of facts. On May 15, 2019, an arbitrator resolved a contractual dispute between the parties, ordering that neither party owed the other anything. (Appx. 73-93.) Jonah Fecteau, Lifepoint’s Senior Associate General Counsel received the order that same day. (Appx. 94-96.) He thanked Erin Stuckey, Lifepoint’s attorney in the arbitration,<sup>1</sup> for her “hard work and effort on the case” and indicated he looked “forward to working with [her] again in the future,” ending the representation. (Appx. 95.)<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> At the time of the arbitration, Ms. Stuckey was an attorney at Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP (“Nelson Mullins”). She departed the firm prior to Lifepoint and Nelson Mullins discovering the lack of notice or disclosure to the firm or Lifepoint that Respondent had initiated the proceeding in the Circuit Court under S.C Code Ann. § 15-48-130 to vacate the arbitration decision (“the Challenge Action”).

<sup>2</sup> By letter of March 2, 2018, Lifepoint engaged Nelson Mullins, through its partner Frank Powell in the Boston office, to represent it “in connection with an arbitration captioned [cont’d next page]

On August 12, 2019, Respondent initiated a matter in the circuit court to vacate the arbitrator's order ("the Challenge Action"). (Appx. 106-110.) Respondent did not serve its "Petition to Vacate" as prescribed by S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-170. Rather, its counsel contacted Ms. Stuckey and asked if she would accept service. (Appx. 111-116.) She said she would. (Appx. 112.)

However, the record before the circuit court reflects that from May 15, 2019 (when Ms. Stuckey sent the arbitrator's order to Mr. Fecteau and received his thanks, ending the engagement), until after November 29, 2021, when Judge Manning's second order was entered, counsel for Respondent contacted no one but Ms. Stuckey about the Challenge Action. The record further reflects that no one -- not Erin Stuckey, not any other attorney or person at Nelson Mullins, not Respondent, not Respondent's counsel or personnel, not the Court nor any Court personnel -- ever communicated with anyone at Lifepoint, including but not limited to, Mr. Fecteau, about the filing of the Challenge Action or any of the subsequent proceedings that occurred in the circuit court. (Appx. 102-105, 111-116, 117-121.)<sup>3</sup> No one at Lifepoint ever authorized anyone, including Ms. Stuckey<sup>4</sup> or any other attorney at Nelson Mullins, to represent it or act on its behalf in the Challenge Action. Lifepoint was utterly unaware Respondent

---

Anesthesiology Professionals of Columbia, LLC v. Providence Hospital ..." and that Nelson Mullins had "not been asked to represent [it] in other legal matters" at that time. (Appx. 97-101.)

<sup>3</sup>The details and supporting proof that Lifepoint was never served, never authorized any attorney to accept service or act on its behalf in the Challenge Action, and had absolutely no notice of its existence until called by the arbitration company to schedule a new arbitration is set forth in detail, with supporting exhibits, at pages 2-5 of Appellants' Memorandum in Support of Appellate Jurisdiction filed July 31, 2023 (Appx. 34-37).

<sup>4</sup>Ms. Stuckey left the law firm of Nelson Mullins on December 31, 2021. The existence of the Challenge Action was not discovered by Lifepoint until 2022, when the arbitration company called to schedule a new arbitration. (Appx. 105.)

instituted the Challenge Action or that there was a judicial proceeding involving Lifepoint in the circuit court until after Judge Manning had vacated the arbitration order and the arbitration organization contacted Mr. Fecteau about setting up a new arbitration hearing. (Appx. 104-05.)

From August 12, 2019, Ms. Stuckey, with no authorization from Lifepoint and without once communicating with it after the May 15, 2019 arbitration order, proceeded to appear and make filings purportedly on its behalf. Thus, without the knowledge, acquiescence, or input of Lifepoint, the Challenge Action proceeded and resulted in Manning entering a “Proposed Order ...” filed August 4, 2021, purporting to vacate the arbitration result (“August 4 Order” or “Judge Manning’s First Order”). (Appx. 19-27.) Ms. Stuckey filed a motion to reconsider<sup>5</sup> (again, unknown to and unauthorized by Lifepoint) leading to a second Order of Judge Manning filed November 29, 2021 (“November 29 Order” or “Judge Manning’s Second Order”) (Appx. 28-30.), which denied the motion’s request to rescind the August 4 Order of vacatur. However, in the November 29 Order, Judge Manning granted Ms. Stuckey’s request to correct the August 4 Order and directed the Clerk to enter “an attached amended order,” which was, in fact, *not attached* to the November 29 Order. (Appx. 29.) Nobody ever received the “amended order”, and the Clerk never entered it on the docket in the Challenge Action.

After the passage of more than 30 days from the November 29 Order and entry of it on the court’s docket, Lifepoint learned for the first time about the Challenge Action in 2022 when it received a notice from the arbitration company that a new arbitration proceeding would allegedly need to occur as a result of the Challenge Action. (Appx. 105.)

---

<sup>5</sup> (Appx. 122-28.)

Thereafter, Lifepoint engaged counsel (the K&L Gates LLP firm, Appx. 052) and promptly moved to dismiss (in essence set aside) Judge Manning’s August 4 and November 29 Orders on the basis of lack of personal jurisdiction and deprivation of due process. (Appx. 50-70.) Lifepoint was not, and never has been, served with the Challenge Action (either the summons or petition) nor did it authorize any counsel (including, but not limited, to Ms. Stuckey) to accept service for it in the Challenge Action. (Appx. 104-05.) *See BB&T v. Taylor*, 369 S.C. 548, 633 S.E.2d 501 (2006)(default set aside on grounds of lack of personal jurisdiction). Lifepoint also requested an alternative ruling that Judge Manning’s Second Order on the Motion to Reconsider filed by Ms. Stuckey be declared to be non-final because there had never been any final order entered by the Clerk as ordered by Judge Manning in the November 29 Order. (Appx. 61-62.)

Because of Judge Manning’s retirement, Lifepoint’s corrective motion was heard by Judge Coble. He issued an order on May 31, 2023 (“May 31 Order”) (Appx. 4-18) denying Lifepoint’s motion to set aside the August 4 and November 29 Orders. He also declined to declare that Judge Manning’s Orders were not final for purposes of appeal because of the failure of the Clerk to enter a corrected, final order as directed. *Id.* This May 31 Order of Judge Coble meant the Challenge Action was final, the arbitration award was formally vacated, and a new arbitration would need to commence.

Lifepoint timely appealed from the May 31 Order of Judge Coble and the two orders of Judge Manning on June 30, 2023.<sup>6</sup> On July 11, 2023, the Court of Appeals issued an

---

<sup>6</sup> Lifepoint contends that because the Clerk failed to enter a correct, final order as directed in November 29 Order (Appx. 29), the time for appeal from Judge Manning’s First and Second Orders never started to run pursuant to Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR or did not start to run until entry of Judge Coble’s May 31 Order effectively declaring that Judge Manning’s Orders were final despite the clerk’s failure to carry out the directive of Judge Manning and the [cont’d next page]

order holding the time limits for perfecting the appeal in abeyance and requesting memoranda on the issue of appealability from the parties. (Appx. 31-32.) Lifepoint and Respondent filed their appealability memoranda on July 31, 2023. (Appx. 33-128 (Lifepoint); 129-138 (Respondent).) In a three-sentence order that did not expressly address any of the arguments raised by the parties, the court “dismiss[ed] the appeal as interlocutory” on August 29, 2023. (Appx. 139.) Lifepoint petitioned the Court of Appeals for rehearing and rehearing en banc on September 28, 2023.<sup>7</sup> (Appx. 140-66.) The Court of Appeals denied the petition for rehearing and rehearing en banc on March 18, 2024. (Appx. 167-68.) Lifepoint now seeks review by this Court to redress the erroneous dismissal of Lifepoint’s appeal as interlocutory so that Lifepoint’s appeal may be addressed on its merits.

#### ARGUMENT

Under Rule 242(b), SCACR a writ of certiorari is appropriately granted where a matter raises “novel questions of law,” the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with prior decisions of this Court, or “[w]here substantial constitutional issues are directly involved” in the case. *Id.* The unusual facts of this case present both novel questions of law and important constitutional issues of personal jurisdiction and due process where, as here, an attorney, without the knowledge of or authority given by a Party, accepts service of a circuit court matter for the Party, appears ostensibly to defend the Party in the matter, and litigates the matter with adverse results to the Party, all without the knowledge of the Party or any communication of any kind with the Party. After the Party discovered the purported

---

requirements of Rule 58(a)(2), SCRCF that judgments be entered to be effective. This argument is addressed *infra*, pp. 17-19.

<sup>7</sup> An extension of time until September 28, 2023 to file the petition was granted on September 22, 2023.

representation on its behalf and the adverse rulings entered against it, and after the Party raised the lack of personal jurisdiction of the circuit court over it to enter any orders or judgments and the denial of due process by being deprived of all opportunity to defend and confirm the arbitration award entered, the Party's appeal was summarily dismissed by the Court of Appeals. This summary dismissal compounds the constitutional violations and deprives Petitioner of all meaningful opportunity to defend the original arbitration decision.

Also, the Court of Appeals' summary dismissal of the appeal as "interlocutory" (Appx. 139) is in conflict with the prior decisions of this Court regarding finality and appealability of orders generally and is novel in the context of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-200 regarding appeals from orders in matters governed by the South Carolina Arbitration Act. For the reasons set forth more fully below and in the prior filings of Petitioner in the Court of Appeals, the Court should grant a writ of certiorari to review this case, reverse the decision of the Court of Appeals dismissing the appeal, and return the matter to the Court of Appeals for disposition on the merits..

**I. THE ORDER OF JUDGE COBLE IS A FINAL, APPEALABLE ORDER PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-48-200(6).**

The Court of Appeals held, without citation of authority and without any explanation or addressing of any of the arguments raised by the parties, that Lifepoint's appeal was interlocutory and, thus, subject to dismissal. This conclusion, whatever its undisclosed basis, is incorrect.

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-200(6) states:

- (a) An appeal may be taken from:
  - ...
  - (6) a judgment or decree entered pursuant to the provisions of this chapter [Chapter 48 of Title 15].

*Id.* Judge Coble’s May 31 Order is a “judgment or decree” in the Challenge Action, which was initiated and existed pursuant to the South Carolina Arbitration Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-48-10, et seq., particularly S.C. Code Ann. §15-48-130. It is a “final judgment” because all claims and defenses by all parties that were asserted in the Challenge Action have been resolved.<sup>8</sup> *See Good v. Hartford Acc. & Indem. Co.*, 201 S.C. 32, 41-42, 21 S.E.2d 209, 212 (1942) (defining a final judgment as one that “dispose[s] of the cause, or a distinct branch thereof, as to all the parties, reserving no further questions or directions for future determination. It must finally dispose of the whole subject-matter or be a termination of the particular proceedings or action, leaving nothing to be done but to enforce by execution what has been determined”, *quoting 2 Am.Jur.* 860, Section 22).

Absolutely nothing remains for the circuit court to decide in the Challenge Action. Respondent filed the Challenge Action to achieve vacatur of the arbitrator’s decision. The Challenge Action resulted in the August 4 Order of the circuit court entitled “Petitioner’s Proposed Order” purporting to vacate the arbitration result, remand for a new arbitration

---

<sup>8</sup> S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-200(6) is analogous to the general appellate statute, S.C. Code Ann. §14-3-330(1), that states an appeal lies from “final judgments” in law cases. In *Heffner v. Destiny, Inc.*, 321 S.C. 536, 471 S.E.2d 135 (1995), the Court concluded that in a proceeding under the South Carolina Arbitration Act in state court, the statutory grounds for appeal in that matter are governed by the specific provisions of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-200 rather than the general appellate provisions of S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330 where *the two conflict*. *Id.* at 538, 471 S.E.2d at 156.

Here, there is no conflict as both statutes provide for an appeal from a final order entered in a circuit court proceeding. Of course, an implied repeal is disfavored, and the statutes should be read harmoniously if possible. Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(2)(b), an order affecting a substantial right which “grants ... a new trial” is also immediately appealable. This provision is analogous to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-200(5) that allows an appeal from an order vacating an arbitration order and ordering a new arbitration proceeding, which is what happened here. The orders on appeal in this case grant a new arbitration proceeding with various restrictions imposed, but not agreed to by the parties in the arbitration agreement. This separate ground for appeal is addressed more fully in section II.B, *infra*, pp. 11-13.

hearing before an entirely different arbitrator, and limit the matters that could be raised in the new arbitration. (Appx. 19-27.) A motion to reconsider was filed (again, unknown to and unauthorized by Lifepoint) on August 16, 2021 (Appx. 122-28) leading to the November 29 Order of Judge Manning. (Appx. 28-30.) Respondent received its full, requested relief through the August 4 and November 29 Orders.

Lifepoint learned for the first time about the Challenge Action when it received a notice that an all new arbitration proceeding would allegedly need to occur as a result of the Challenge Action. (Appx. 105.) Lifepoint moved to dismiss (in essence set aside) the Orders of the Circuit Court vacating the arbitration decision on grounds, *inter alia*, of lack of personal jurisdiction over Lifepoint and failure of due process.<sup>9</sup> Alternately, it sought a ruling that the August 4 and November 29 Orders of Judge Manning be declared non-final because there had never been any final order sent out by the Clerk with the attachment ordered by the circuit court. On May 31, Judge Coble issued the May 31 Order (Appx. 4-18.) denying Lifepoint's motion in its entirety.

This Court has defined an “interlocutory” order as “[a] judgment or decree, leaving some further act to be done by the [circuit] court before the rights of the parties are determined ....” *Ex Parte Wilson*, 367 S.C. 7, 12, 625 S.E.2d 205, 208 (2005) (brackets in the original). In this case, nothing remains for the circuit court to address or do. All claims

---

<sup>9</sup> As argued in its Memorandum regarding jurisdiction, pp. 5-8 (Appx. 37-40), Lifepoint's motion cited Rule 4(d)(3), SCRCF and Rule 12(b)(2), SCRCF as grounds for its motion to dismiss, but the substance of the motion, given the status of the Challenge Action (petition to vacate granted and matter remanded for a new arbitration with a new arbitrator), was a motion under Rule 60(b), SCRCF to set aside the circuit court's orders.

by all parties have been fully addressed. The circuit court has purported to vacate the arbitration award and dismiss the matter to arbitration for a new hearing. (Appx. 25-26.)

To the extent the Court of Appeals' order is predicated upon the idea that the issues raised in this appeal can be addressed after a new arbitration award, that idea is incorrect. If that is what the Court of Appeals intended, it would create a potentially endless cycle of unreviewable orders vacating arbitration awards and is inconsistent with S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-48-200(3), (5), & (6). *See National Ave. Bldg. Co. v. Stewart*, 910 S.W. 2d 334, 340-41 (Mo. Ct. App. 1995) (holding that identical provisions in the Missouri Uniform Arbitration Act allow appeals from specific types of orders that apply independently of each other and holding that appeal is not precluded under any one applicable provision even if some other provision would preclude an appeal, thus harmonizing the provisions and preventing a situation where the process of vacatur of arbitrations and rehearings by arbitrators "could continue *ad infinitum*" without the appellate courts ever having an opportunity to review the correctness of the vacatur decision of the trial judge).

The Court of Appeals' order dismissing this appeal on the basis that it is interlocutory is contrary to fact and erroneous as a matter of law. The Challenge Action is complete. Nothing remains to be decided as to any issue or any party. A final judgment in the Challenge Action has been entered and is ripe for appeal. The Petition for Certorari should be granted, the dismissal of the appeal by the Court of Appeals vacated, and the matter set for briefing and disposition on the merits of the appeal before the Court of Appeals.

**II. THE ORDERS OF THE CIRCUIT COURT ARE APPEALABLE PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-48-200 (3) AND (5).**

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-200(3) & (5) state:

(a) An appeal may be taken from:

...

(3) An order confirming or denying confirmation of an award;

...

(5) An order vacating an award without directing a rehearing;

*Id.* As set forth below, these provisions provide independent grounds for a right of immediate appeal of the orders of the circuit court in the Challenge Action. *See National Ave. Bldg. Co. v. Stewart*, 910 S.W. at 340-41 (holding that identical provisions in the Missouri Uniform Arbitration Act allow appeals from specific types of orders that apply independently of each other).

**A. THE CIRCUIT COURT’S ORDERS DENY CONFIRMATION OF THE ARBITRATION AWARD BY THE ARBITRATOR AND ARE SUBJECT TO IMMEDIATE APPEAL UNDER SUBSECTION 3 OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA ARBITRATION ACT’S APPEAL PROVISIONS.**

According to subsection 3 of the appeal provision of the South Carolina Arbitration Act, any order denying confirmation of an arbitration award is immediately appealable. In the Challenge Action, Respondent sought, and Judge Manning, in essence affirmed by Judge Coble, granted vacatur of the arbitration award under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-130.

Assuming for sake of argument only that Lifepoint was subject to personal jurisdiction, Lifepoint opposed Respondent’s petition to vacate.

The vacatur statute upon which the Challenge Action is predicated states that if a petition to vacate is denied and dismissed, “the court shall confirm the award.” S.C. Code

Ann. § 15-48-130(d). By granting the vacatur petition of Respondent Judge Manning and Judge Coble effectively entered orders “denying confirmation of an award,” thus triggering the right of appeal from the circuit court’s orders under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-200(3). The orders were not interlocutory as stated without explanation by the Court of Appeals, but final orders as discussed above. The Petition should be granted and the Court of Appeal’s order to the contrary reversed and the matter set for a decision on the merits before the Court of Appeals.

**B. THE ORDERS VACATE THE ARBITRATOR’S AWARD WITHOUT DIRECTING A REHEARING AS PRESCRIBED BY THE SOUTH CAROLINA ARBITRATION ACT AND ARE, THEREFORE, SUBJECT TO IMMEDIATE APPEAL UNDER S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-48-200(5).**

According to subsection 5 of the appeal provisions of the South Carolina Arbitration Act, any order vacating an arbitration award without directing a rehearing is immediately appealable. The South Carolina Arbitration Act does not, however, bestow upon the Circuit Court a freewheeling power to direct rehearing in any manner it chooses. Rather, the power to order a rehearing is specifically circumscribed by S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-130(c), which states:

In vacating the award on grounds other than stated in item (5) of subsection (a) [which is inapplicable in this case] the court may order a rehearing before new arbitrators *chosen as provided in the agreement*, or in the absence thereof, by the court in accordance with § 15-48-30, or, if the award is vacated on grounds set forth in items (3) and (4) of subsection (a) the court may order a rehearing before the arbitrators who made the award or their successors appointed in accordance with § 15-48-30.

*Id.* (bracketed phrase and emphasis added).

In the Challenge Matter, Judge Manning, in essence affirmed by Judge Coble, apparently vacated the arbitrator’s order based on the grounds set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-130(a)(3) & (4). (Appx. 24-26.) However, the August 4 and November 29 Orders go

beyond simply vacating the arbitration award and, contrary to the agreement between the parties and its arbitration provision, Article 23 (Appx. 152), which prescribes a single arbitrator and application of the American Health Lawyers Association Alternative Dispute Resolution Rules of Procedure for Arbitration (Appx. 154-66),<sup>10</sup> purports to dictate the appointment of a new arbitrator and restrict or condition the ability of any new arbitrator to conduct the arbitration in accord with those rules. (Appx. 25-26, ¶¶ 29, 30.)

For instance, the Rules prescribe the circumstances for removal of an arbitrator (Section 4.5, Appx. 165) and the process for selecting a new arbitrator (*See* sections 3.2-3.4, 4.7, Appx. 160-61, 166). Importantly, Section 3.1 of the Rules states that “the arbitrator, once appointed, shall have power to determine his or her jurisdiction *and any issues of arbitrability.*” (Appx. 160, emphasis added). Section 4.1 (Appx. 163) empowers the arbitrator, not the trial court remanding the case, to “take any actions and make any decisions that are necessary and proper to conducting a fair and efficient arbitration under the Rules.” Also, when an arbitrator is replaced, Section 4.7 (Appx. 166) of the Rules states “[g]enerally, a replacement arbitrator will conduct an arbitration *de novo*. However, the parties may agree to alternative arrangements.” The trial court here is not empowered to dictate how the new hearing before the new arbitrator will be conducted. As stated in S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-130(c), it is the agreement of the parties that dictates the terms of any new arbitration before any newly chosen arbitrator selected in accordance with the terms of the agreement.

---

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