**RECEIVED**

**Jun 03 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge  
The Honorable Daniel Coble, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-CP-40-04452

---

South Carolina Court of Appeals  
Appellate Case No.: 2023-001058

---

South Carolina Supreme Court  
Appellate Case No.: 2024-000588

---

Anesthesiology Professional of  
Columbia, LLC,

Respondent,

v.

Lifepoint Health d/b/a Providence  
Health and Providence Hospital LLC,

Petitioners.

---

**RESPONDENT'S RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE  
SOUTH CAROLINA SUPREME COURT**

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

## **ARGUMENT**

The Court should deny the Writ because the orders LifePoint seeks to appeal are not presently appealable, and therefore, dismissal was proper. There are no novel legal issues present, and the Court of Appeals’ unanimous ruling is not in conflict with other decisions of the Supreme Court or Court of Appeals. The May 31, 2023, Order denying LifePoint’s Motion to Dismiss the arbitration proceedings is an interlocutory order not subject to immediate appeal. *See Mid-State Distribs., Inc. v. Century Importers, Inc.*, 310 S.C. 330, 334, 426 S.E.2d 777, 780 (1993) (holding the denial of a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(2), SCRCR, is interlocutory and not directly appealable). Additionally, the Writ should be denied because LifePoint missed the thirty-day window within which to appeal the August 2021, Order and granting APC’s Petition to Vacate the Arbitration Award and the November 2021, Order denying Lifepoint’s Motion to Reconsider. Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR. Accordingly, Respondent APC respectfully requests the Court deny the Writ.

1. The May 2023 Order is interlocutory and is not immediately appealable; therefore, the Court must dismiss this appeal for lack of appellate jurisdiction.

Under S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330, only certain interlocutory orders are immediately appealable: those that involve the merits of the case or affect a substantial right. *Richardson v. Halcyon Real Est. Servs., LLP*, 439 S.C. 419, 425, 887 S.E.2d 153, 156 (Ct. App. 2023) (citing *Burkey v. Noce*, 398 S.C. 35, 37, 726 S.E.2d 229, 230 (Ct. App. 2012)); *see also* *Tatnall v. Gardner*, 350 S.C. 135, 137, 564 S.E.2d 377, 379 (Ct. App. 2002) (“Absent some ‘specialized statute,’ this Court is not permitted to hear a case on appeal not comporting with the requirements of [section 14-3-330].”) ““An order which does not finally end a case or prevent a final judgment from which a party may seek appellate review usually is considered an interlocutory order from which no immediate appeal is allowed.”” *Richardson*, 439 S.C. at 425, 887 S.E.2d at 156 (quoting *Hagood v. Sommerville*, 362 S.C. 191, 195, 607 S.E.2d 707, 709 (2005)). The provisions of section 14-3-330 should be narrowly construed when determining whether an interlocutory order is immediately appealable, and orders issued before or during trial are generally not immediately appealable. *Hagood*, 362 S.C. at 196, 607 S.E.2d at 709.

The Court should deny the Writ because the May 2023 Order denying the Motion to Dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction is an interlocutory order that is not immediately appealable under S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330. *Mid-State Distribs., Inc.*, 310 S.C. at 334, 426 S.E.2d at 780. Moreover, examination of the facts in the present case illustrates that the May 2023 Order denying relief under Rule 12(b)(2), SCRCP, and rejecting LifePoint’s contention that the scrivener’s error in the caption of the August 2021 Order and Final Judgment invalidated its finality is not immediately appealable under section 14-3-330. The May 2023 Order does not conclusively determine the validity of any of LifePoint’s counterclaims and defenses in this matter. *See Richardson*, 439 S.C. at 426, 887 S.E.2d at 157 (citing *Watson v. Underwood*, 407 S.C. 443,

458, 756 S.E.2d 155, 163 (Ct. App. 2014)); *see also Mid-State Distribs., Inc.*, 310 S.C. at 334, 426 S.E.2d at 780 (holding that party denied dismissal under Rule 12 “has not arrived at the end of the road,...has forfeited nothing, [and] must simply continue to trial.”) Nor does it affect a substantial right of LifePoint. *Mid-State Distribs., Inc.*, 310 S.C. at 334, 426 S.E.2d at 780, n.4 (citing *Shields v. Martin Marietta Corp.*, 303 S.C. 469, 402 S.E.2d 482 (1991) (finding the avoidance of trial did not constitute the impairment of a substantial right when examining the denial of a motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction)). Rather, following a rehearing in arbitration and entry of an award, LifePoint will still have the option to appeal the May 2023 Order if they so choose because the underlying case has not been dismissed but for all intents and purposes is stayed pending a rehearing before the AHLA. Thus, it is clear that the May 2023 Order is an interlocutory order that does not finally end the case, and thus, “no immediate appeal is allowed.” *Richardson*, 439 S.C. at 425, 887 S.E.2d at 156 (quoting *Hagood*, 362 S.C. at 195, 607 S.E.2d at 709.).

It is an inescapable conclusion that the May 23 Order is not final, nor an appealable interlocutory order because it does not “finally determine some substantial matter forming the whole or a part of some cause of action or defense...’ ” *Mid-State Distributors, Inc.*, 310 S.C. at 334, 426 S.E.2d at 780 (quoting *Jefferson v. Gene's Used Cars, Inc.*, 295 S.C. 317, 318, 368 S.E.2d 456, 456 (1988)). Notably, such result does not change now that LifePoint couches the Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(2) as a motion to “in essence set aside” the August and November 2021 Orders under Rule 60(b).<sup>1</sup> Regardless of the title given to the motion, the fact remains that the May 23 Order is not a final order constituting an ultimate decision on the merits.<sup>2</sup> *See also*

---

<sup>1</sup> Notably, LifePoint argued the August 2021 Order was not a “final” order because of the word “Proposed” in the caption, (May 31, 2023 Order, App’x at 6, 15-16), yet now they posit “substance over form” should be the focus of the Court (Pet. for Writ at 4, 8, 14-16).

<sup>2</sup> Moreover, the reason a Rule 60, SCRCP, motion was not filed was because Judge Manning’s 2021 Orders did not end the case, but rather remanded the case to arbitration with instructions for

*Charlotte-Mecklenburg Hosp. Authority v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envir. Serv.*, 387 S.C. 265, 267, 692 S.E.2d 894, 895 (2010) (“A final judgment disposes of the whole subject matter of the action or terminates the particular proceeding or action, leaving nothing to be done but to enforce by execution what has been determined.”) This is not a novel issue before the Court, but rather a cut and dry interlocutory order that is not immediately appealable.

2. LifePoint failed to timely appeal the August 2021 Order and Final Judgment and the November 2021 Final Order, thereby depriving the appellate court of jurisdiction.

“A notice of appeal shall be served on all respondents within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice of entry of the order or judgment.” Rule 203(a)-(b)(1), SCACR. A timely motion to alter or amend the judgment, however, tolls this thirty-day period until “receipt of written notice of entry of the order granting or denying such motion.” *Id.* “The requirement of service of the notice of appeal is jurisdictional, i.e., if a party misses the deadline, the appellate court lacks jurisdiction to consider the appeal and has no authority or discretion to ‘rescue’ the delinquent party by extending or ignoring the deadline for service of the notice.” *Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 14–15, 602 S.E.2d 772, 775 (2004) (citing *Mears v. Mears*, 287 S.C. 168, 169, 337 S.E.2d 206, 207(1985)).

In the present case, the lower court granted Respondent’s Petition to vacate the arbitration award and remanded the matter back to AHLA for a rehearing before a different arbitrator. *See* (Aug. 2021 Order, App’x at 25, ¶ 29.) Within ten days of receiving notice that the lower court granted the Petition, LifePoint filed their Motion to Reconsider. *See* (May 2023 Order, App’x at 9.) The parties were notified on November 29, 2021, of the lower court’s denial of the Motion to Reconsider. Upon receipt of such notice, LifePoint had thirty days within which to serve APC

---

a new hearing. LifePoint will have the right to appeal the subsequent arbitration award should they desire.

with a notice of appeal of the final orders. Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR. LifePoint did not appeal either 2021 order within this window of time, and the case was appropriately resubmitted to arbitration before the AHLA. Having failed to appeal these orders within the time afforded by Rule 203(b)(1), the Court does not have jurisdiction to entertain an appeal of these orders, irrespective of the label that LifePoint seeks to apply to its effort to resurrect an appeal of the 2021 orders.

Finally, the Court should reject LifePoint's attempt to get around this failure to timely appeal by arguing that a denial of LifePoint's ability to appeal the orders infringes on their due process rights. The lower court properly determined that Nelson Mullins had apparent authority to accept service of the Petition on behalf of Lifepoint. Specifically, in the May 2023 Order Judge Coble held:

It is undisputed that Respondents held Nelson Mullins out as its counsel to Petitioner during all relevant times over the course of the contract dispute with Petitioner and during arbitration before the AHLA. Neither Petitioner, nor its counsel, were ever informed by Respondents that Nelson Mullins' representation was solely limited to the arbitration proceedings or that Nelson Mullins ceased representing Respondents upon the issuance of the arbitration award. Despite an opportunity to do so, Respondents have not provided the Court with any documentation between Respondents and Nelson Mullins indicating Nelson Mullins' representation of Respondents did in fact cease following the arbitration award or that Petitioner was ever informed that Nelson Mullins was no longer representing Respondents.

Moreover, absent the conveyance of such information, Rule 4.2, SCRE, prohibits Petitioner's counsel from communicating with Respondents – parties Petitioner and its counsel knew to be represented by Nelson Mullins. Accordingly, Petitioner, through its counsel, was ethically required to, and did, communicate with Nelson Mullins regarding the Petition. Petitioner detrimentally relied upon this representation by not serving Respondents' registered agent and instead accepting Nelson Mullins' acknowledgment of service as sufficient. Under these circumstances, Nelson Mullins was Respondents' apparent agent for purposes of Petitioner's appeal from the arbitrator's ruling and Respondents are thereby bound by Nelson Mullins' actions.

(App'x at 12-13.) Having found Nelson Mullins was LifePoint's agent, the lower court correctly held that it had personal jurisdiction over Lifepoint.

As is evident from the correspondence surrounding the service of process of the Petition between counsel for Petitioner and Respondents, as well as the acceptance of service on file, Nelson Mullins entered a general appearance on behalf of Respondents in this action without reservation. Nelson Mullins litigated this Petition for over two years, causing this Court to expend limited and valuable resources and costing Petitioner significant fees and expenses. Yet, Respondents now claim the Petition should be dismissed because they did not specifically retain Nelson Mullins to represent them in this appeal from the arbitration proceeding. Importantly, Respondents do not claim that they discharged Nelson Mullins prior to the Court issuing the August 4, 2019 Order and Final Judgment vacating the arbitrator's ruling. Nor do Respondents contend that they would not have retained Nelson Mullins had they been informed of this appeal.

Because Petitioner and its counsel have dealt with Respondents' attorneys reasonably, in good faith, and without being provided any indication that Nelson Mullins' actions were not authorized, Respondents are estopped from denying that Nelson Mullins was their agent for purposes of this litigation. *Id.* Respondents' sole remedy, if in fact Nelson Mullins' actions were not authorized, is to assert a claim against its attorneys. *Lord Jeff Knitting Co. v. Mills*, 281 S.C. 374, 377, 315 S.E.2d 377, 379 (Ct. App. 1984) (“[I]f the attorney has apparent authority to confess, or consent to, judgment, it is ordinarily binding and conclusive on the client, notwithstanding an actual lack of authority unknown to the court or the opposing party, the sole remedy in such a case being against the attorney.”); *Motley v. Williams*, 374 S.C. 107, 112, 647 S.E.2d 244, 247 (Ct. App. 2007) (“Any communication failure or mistake on the part of an attorney is directly attributable to his client”). Respondents' claim that Nelson Mullins lacked authority to accept service of the Petition and enter an appearance in this action on their behalf does not provide a basis to void two years of litigation and vacate this Court's final order.

(*Id.* at 14-15) (emphasis in original). It is clear from Judge Coble's order – crafted based on the extensive record before him - that LifePoint was not deprived of due process. To the extent the corporate officers of LifePoint take issue with the status updates provided to them during the life cycle of the litigation, that is a matter appropriately directed at Nelson Mullins, their agent, and does not constitute a novel question of law for the Court. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals properly denied LifePoint's appeal, thereby prohibiting LifePoint from reviving the opportunity to appeal the August 2021 Order and Final Judgment granting the Petition to vacate the award and

the November 2021 Order denying LifePoint's Motion to Reconsider.

### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Respondent respectfully requests the Court deny the Writ because (1) the May 2023 Order is an interlocutory order and not immediately appealable and (2) LifePoint's appeal of the August 2021 Order and Final Judgement and November 2021 Order are untimely.